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PPPPROPOSALROPOSALROPOSALROPOSAL    

Demolish a ca. 1936 house. 
    
AAAARCHITECTURERCHITECTURERCHITECTURERCHITECTURE    

One-story U-plan hipped-roof frame house with two projecting front gables framing a 
partial-width inset porch on round wood posts; synthetic siding; single and paired 1:1 
fenestration. 

RRRRESEARCHESEARCHESEARCHESEARCH    

According to city utility permits, the house was built in 1936 by A.C. Bryant, a local 
developer.  The first occupants were F. Nelson and Wilma Bane, who rented the house from 
around 1936 to around 1940.  Nelson Bane was originally from Dallas, where he was a 
salesman.  The 1939 city directory shows him as a representative while he and Wilma were 
living in this house.  Wilma Bane was listed as a student at the University of Texas in the 
1937 city directory.  The Banes apparently moved back to Dallas after living here. 

The house was then rented by Dewey and Velma Knutson in the early 1940s; Dewey 
Knutson was an X-ray technician.  By the mid-1940s, the house was the home of Rev. Ray 
V. and Dehilia Mayfield, while he was the pastor for the Congress Avenue Baptist Church.  
William F. and Maude J. Thompson are listed as the owners of the house in the 1947 city 
directory; he was a foreman at the American-Statesman.  By 1949, the house had been 
purchased by John R. and Cornelia (Nellie) Coble, who lived here until around 1964.  John 
R. Coble was a civil engineer who worked for the Highway Department, a private 
construction company, and finally, the Corps of Engineers in the early 1960s.  Garland and 
Gladys Skaggs then owned and occupied the house from around 1964 until the mid-1980s.  
Born in Lockhart, Garland Skaggs moved to Karnes County, where he met Gladys; they 
farmed there for a time then moved to Austin.  Garland Skaggs was a driver then plant 
worker for Superior Dairies; his son Reginald, who is listed as the owner and occupant of 
the house in the 1980s and 1990s, also worked for Superior Dairies. 

SSSSTAFF TAFF TAFF TAFF CCCCOMMENTSOMMENTSOMMENTSOMMENTS    

The house is not listed in any city survey. 

SSSSTAFF TAFF TAFF TAFF RRRRECOMMENDATIONECOMMENDATIONECOMMENDATIONECOMMENDATION    

Encourage relocation over demolition, but release the permit.  The house has neither the 
architectural nor the historical significance to warrant individual designation as a historic 
landmark. 
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1702 Alta Vista Avenue 
ca. 1936 

 
 

OCCUPANCY HISTORY 
1702 Alta Vista Avenue 

 
City Directory Research, Austin History Center 
By City Historic Preservation Office 
February, 2012 
 
1992  Reginald W. Skaggs, owner 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
 
1985-86 Reginald W. Skaggs (not listed as owner) 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
 
1981  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs, owners 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
  Also listed is Reginald Skaggs, a plant worker at Superior Dairies. 
 
1977  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs, owners 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
  Also listed is Reginald Skaggs, a plant worker at Superior Dairies. 
 
 
1973  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs, owners 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
  Also listed is Reginald Skaggs, a plant worker at Superior Dairies. 
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1969  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs, owners 
  Plant worker, Superior Dairies 
  Also listed is Reginald Skaggs, a plant worker at Superior Dairies. 
 
1965  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs, owners 

Garland: Driver, Superior Dairies 
Gladys: Cook, Northwood Nursing Home, 2705 East Avenue. 

  Also listed is Reginald Skaggs, a plant worker at Superior Dairies. 
 
1961  John R. and Nellie Coble, owners 
  Civil engineer, U.S. Corps of Engineers 

NOTE:  Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs are listed as living at 714 West 
Johanna Street; Garland Skaggs was a driver for Superior Dairies; Reginald 
Skaggs was a plant worker at Superior Dairies; Gladys Skaggs had no 
occupation listed. 

 
1957  John R. and Nellie Coble, owners 

Engineer, W.S. Conner Construction Company, 4610 South Congress Avenue. 
 
1952  John R. and Nellie Coble, owners 

Civil engineer 
 
1949  John R. and Cornelia Coble, owners 
  Party chief, State Highway Department 
 
1947  William F. and Maude J. Thompson, owners 
  Foreman, Austin American-Statesman 

NOTE:  John R. and Nellie Coble are listed as living at 317-B West 6th Street; he 
was the office manager for Garrett Engineers, 317-B West 6th Street. 

 
1944-45 Rev. Ray V. and Dehilia Mayfield, owners 
  Pastor, Congress Avenue Baptist Church, 1511 South Congress Avenue. 
 
1941  Dewey M. and Velma Knutson, renters 
  X-ray technician, Medical and Surgical offices, 306 W. 11th Street. 
 
1939  F. Nelson and Wilma Bane, renters 
  Representative 
 
1937  F. Nelson and Wilma Bane, renters 
  F. Nelson: No occupation listed 
  Wilma:  Student, University of Texas 
 
1935  The address is not listed in the directory. 
  NOTE:  F. Nelson and Wilma Bane are not listed in the directory. 
 
 
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES 
 
F. Nelson and Wilma Bane ((ca. 1936 to ca. 1940) 
F.N. Bane appears in the 1930 U.S. Census report as the 25-year old son of Lillian Bane, a 
widow in Dallas, Texas.  He was born in Missouri and is listed as a salesman in the census 
report.  The 1939 city directory for Austin shows him as a representative, while living at this 
address.  The Banes apparently moved back to Dallas after living in this house.  Nelson Bane 
died in Dallas in 1978; Wilma Bane died in Dallas in 1990. 
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John R. and Cornelia (Nellie) Coble (ca. 1948 to ca. 1964) 
John R. and Cornelia Coble appear in the 1930 U.S. Census report for Brooklyn, New York.  
John R. Coble was then 25; Cornelia was then 29.  Both had been born in New York.  John R. 
Coble was a salesman for an electrical firm; Cornelia Coble was a supervisor at an electrical 
company.  They lived with her mother, Ida Ackerley, and her sister, Dorothy Ackerley.  They had 
no children listed.  The date of John R. Coble’s birth coincides with his obituary below in the 
Austin American-Statesman, which otherwise gives little information about his life and career. 
 

 
Obituary of John R. Coble 

Austin American-Statesman, July 2, 1979 
 

 
Obituary of Cornelia (Neilly) Coble 

Austin American-Statesman, September 21, 1991 
 

 
Garland D. and Gladys C. Skaggs (ca. 1964 to ca. 1988) 
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Garland D. Skaggs appears in the 1920 U.S. Census report as the 6 year old son of Susie 
Skaggs, a young widow, in Lockhart, Texas.  Susie Skaggs had no occupation listed in the 
census report.  The 1930 U.S. Census report shows Garland D. Skaggs as the 16-year old son 
of Susie Skaggs, who had by then married Willie Wingensoth, a farmer in Karnes County, 
Texas.  Garland is listed as a farm laborer. 
 

 
Obituary of Garland D. Skaggs 

Austin American-Statesman, August 13, 1988 
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Obituary of Gladys Skaggs 

Austin American-Statesman, November 10, 1999 
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Permit for water service issued to Allen C. Bryant (1936) 

 

 
Sewer service permit to Maurice Plumb showing Allen C. Bryant as the property owner (1936) 
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Remodel permit issued to Robert J. Kuhn (1965) apparently issued during the interim in 
ownership between John and Nellie Coble, who owned and occupied the house in 1961, and 
Garland and Gladys Skaggs, who owned and occupied the house in 1965, according to city 
directories. 
 
 

 


